
National Park Authority  - 15 December 2020 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held VIA LIFESIZE ON 
TUESDAY, 15TH DECEMBER, 2020 AT 12.30 PM OR ON THE RISING OF 
THE PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE, when your 
attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins

Chief Executive

Link for Members:  https://call.lifesizecloud.com/2288154

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 

Public Document Pack

https://call.lifesizecloud.com/2288154
http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 15 December 2020 2

sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 10)

1. To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them
as a correct record:
 

a)     National Park Authority – 27th of November 2020

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

7 NPMP21 ISSUES REPORT CONSULTATION (Pages 11 - 40)

8 THREE PARK RESPONSE TO WELSH GOVERNMENT 
CONSULTATION (Pages 41 - 54)

9 MEMBER REPORTS 

To receive any reports from members.



National Park Authority  - 15 December 2020 3

10 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

11 ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

RECOMMENDATION: to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 12 in accordance with section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraph 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972.
 

12 WORKFORCE PLAN (Pages 55 - 72)

13 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624337



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 27 November 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD VIA LIFESIZE ON FRIDAY, 27TH NOVEMBER, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick, Cllr McNicholas and Cllr James Evans

Monmouthshire

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Ms Liz Davis, Canon Aled Edwards and Mr Julian 
Stedman

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesSean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager

Apologies
Cllr Phil Pritchard, Cllr A Webb and Mrs S Holden

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 27 November 2020

128/20 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed members, officers and the public to the meeting.  He also welcomed 
Deryck Evans from Audit Wales.
 
Apologies were noted.  Cllr M Jones would be joining later in the meeting.
 

129/20 Declarations of Interest 

Cllr J Evans declared a personal interest in item 9, Integrated Sustainability Appraisal of 
the Local Development Plan, in light of his employment by the Country Landowners 
Association.
 
Cllr E Roderick declared a personal interest in item 10, Llanspyddid Village Plan, as he 
owns land adjacent to the sewage plant referred to in the plan.
 
Cllr J Evans declared a personal interest in item 10, Llanspyddid Village Plan as he had a 
relative living in the village.
 
 

130/20 Minutes 

The Democratic Services Manager referred to some typographical errors on the minutes 
of 22 October which had been corrected since publication and a factual amendment 
under the CEO’s Announcements on 30 October.  Both sets would be published in their 
final form online once approved.
 

RESOLVED: 
 
a)     To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair 

to sign them as a correct record: 
   NPA – 22 October 2020 as amended
   NPA – 30 October 2020 as amended

b)     To receive the minutes of the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 24 July 2020 

 
 

131/20 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

132/20 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair and Deputy Chair had attended a meeting of National Parks Wales which was 
referred to in the Chief Executive’s announcements.

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 27 November 2020

 

133/20 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The Chief Executive had circulated an update on meetings attended and work progressed 
since the last meeting.  Members welcomed the advocacy work with Welsh Government 
on strengthening the policy position of National Parks in relation to the National 
Development Framework.
 
He answered questions from members on the detail of the National Parks Wales meeting 
and advised that it had been agreed in principle to have the same set of metrics for the 
eight designated landscapes in Wales. A workshop is being scheduled for December. In 
relation to a question from a Member regarding potential National Park involvement in 
the UN Climate Change Conference of the Parties (COP26), November 2021, the Chief 
Executive briefed on the ambition at UK level for the family of National Parks to have 
some involvement. Proposals were in development but these were at an early stage.  
Asked about major development in the Park officers advised that there was a presumption 
against this in National Parks if it can be sited elsewhere.
 

134/20 Approval of the Authority's Statement of Accounts 2019/20 

The Finance Manager and Mr Deryck Evans from Audit Wales presented the ISA260 audit 
of the Authority’s annual statement of accounts for 2019/20 and members noted the 
unqualified audit opinion.
 
The Finance Manager responded to questions about the type and level of reserves, and 
about the process for recouping outstanding debts.  
 
Mr Evans advised that there were some minor errors in the accounts but highlighted the 
challenges facing a small finance team.  He also referred to the annual reminder to 
members on their Register of Interest and related party transactions, and emphasised the 
importance of doing this.  There were some gaps this year which had been picked up in 
the audit. 
 
Members noted Audit Wales concerns about the value of property and assets held by the 
Powys Pension Fund as a result of the Covid-19 uncertainty.
 
The CEO responded to a question about Welsh Government funding and said that there 
were a range of conditions attached to such grants, with reporting requirements against 
spending.
 
Mr Evans referred to a useful document which explained how the accounts were 
processed and he would forward this to the Finance Manager to circulate to members.
 
Given the level of reserves a member suggested that there was resource to align with the 
ambition in the Corporate Plan.
 
Cllr M Jones joined the meeting but did not vote on this item.
 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 27 November 2020

 
RESOLVED:

 
a)     That the Authority’s Statement of Accounts 

for the financial year 2019/20 is approved and 
signed by the Chair; 

b)     That the content of the ISA260 Report is 
received

 
The Chair thanked Mr Evans and members paid tribute to the work of the finance team.
 

135/20 Corporate Plan 2021/22 

The Chief Executive presented the draft Corporate Plan for 2021/22 setting out the 
Authority’s ambition and intended work priorities for the coming year, and thanked the 
Principal Planning Officer (Policy) for her hard work on this.  A final version would be 
brought to the Authority on 12 February 2021 once the financial budget settlement had 
been confirmed.
 
Members welcomed the improved format and content, but highlighted the need to follow 
through on evidence based metrics and the human resource required to meet targets, as 
well as the ‘golden thread’ of the high level ambition linking to individual work 
programmes.  Milestone targets in the Corporate Plan should reflect the 15 year targets 
in the National Park Management Plan.  The inclusion of a fourth focus area of 
organisational resilience was also welcomed.
 
A member suggested that the frequency of the word ‘challenge’ in the foreword needed 
to be balanced by the word ‘opportunity’ which would demonstrate a willingness to 
improve.
 
A small error was identified in the evidence under Landscape and Nature Recovery and 
the member would forward the correct figures in relation to red listed bird species.
 
A member welcomed how the plan fitted into the social context of the day which made it 
a living and very relevant document.  The CEO agreed and said that it played to the origin 
of National Parks in response to social reform.  Another member agreed with this but 
cited the need to demonstrate inclusivity in relation to different faiths in some of the 
material included in the draft.
 
The CEO had received comments from a member not present regarding a suggested 
amendment to the vision which had been honed from the working vision previously 
approved by Members.  He welcomed views from members and there was general 
support for the new wording.
 
The Principal Planning Officer (Policy) advised that the poem used at the end was received 
in the recent competition inspired by the interpretation stones on the A470, as part of a 
wider drive to use such material in strategic documents.
 
The Chair asked the officer to pass on thanks to the team.

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 27 November 2020

 
RESOLVED:  To  note progress with the Draft 
Corporate Plan.

 

136/20 Revised Scoping Report Integrated Sustainability Appraisal LDP/NPMP for 
Consultation 

Cllr J Evans declared a personal interest in this item and did not vote.
 
Members considered a revised process for the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal for the 
National Park Management Plan and Local Development Plan.
 
During this item the Chair briefly lost connection and the Deputy Chair took the chair.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the Replacement Baseline 
Scoping Report for a consultation period.

 

137/20 Llanspyddid Village Plan 

 
Cllr J Evans and Cllr E Roderick declared personal interests in this item and did not vote.
 
Members considered the draft village plan which had been initiated and driven by the 
community and welcomed three residents to the meeting.  Mr Rob Griffiths described 
how the community worked together to identify what it needed.
 
Members congratulated them on an inspiring piece of work and hoped that they would be 
prepared to share some of the learning to benefit other communities.
 
The CEO commented that it was a good example of how the Active Travel initiative in 
Wales could be applied to rural as well as urban areas.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the Llanspyddid Village 
Plan Draft Supplementary Planning Guidance for at 
least an eight week period of public consultation.

 

138/20 Member Reports 

The Landscape and Biodiversity Champion reported on a meeting he had attended with 
Chairs and Environment Directors of Powys and Herefordshire Councils on phosphate 
pollution.  A further meeting was expected to take place in January to include two local 
MPs.
 
He had attended an online event on Natural Capital Finance and Investment and 
emphasised the important of a new initiative focus on nature recovery which could lead 
to private investment in ecosystems.  He cited examples in Hampshire and the Somerset 
Levels.

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 27 November 2020

 
He advised that he had recommended the postponement of the proposed land 
management member workshop on 7 December in order that officers could assimilate 
the expected Natural Resources Wales paper due out in mid December and also the 
Welsh Government’s White Paper on Agriculture.  A workshop in late January/early 
February would also allow members to hear what the guest speakers had to say at the 
Policy Forum in January.  Officers had agreed that this was expedient and would 
reschedule the workshop.
 
In response to a comment about other sources of water pollution in addition to farming, 
Mr Marsden also reminded members of the report from the Environmental Director of 
Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water which he would recirculate.
 
Cllr A James reported on his first meeting as a Director of the Biodiversity Information 
Service.
 
The Heritage Champion reported on two meetings of the Heritage Environment Action 
Plan partnership which was very effectively supported by the Heritage Team.  A useful list 
of stakeholders had been produced, and a small group would be needed to steer the 
partnership in the short term.
 

139/20 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.
 

140/20 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 10



National Park Management Plan: Issues, Vision and Objectives

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 15th December 2020

Report Author Helen Lucocq

Job title Principal Planning Officer (Policy)

Contact Details Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report The Management Plan for the National Park is a key policy 
document for the Authority and the Park as a whole.  It sets 
out the future policy necessary to guide the Management of 
the Park for the next five years.  The enclosed document is 
the first step towards the development of our next 
Management Plan (NPMP21).  Having taken on board views 
of Members regarding the NPMP21 this document is being 
presented as an early draft.  Member’s views are sought on 
the general direction of travel so that the plan can be refined 
and a final version brought back for consideration at the next 
meeting of the NPA on the 12 of February.  At that point we 
will be seeking member agreement to consult on this 
document alongside our reviewed LDP Preferred Strategy.  

Single Integrated 
Assessment

To be completed as part of the final report to 
members, once final content is determined. 

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Draft Consultation NPMP21 Vision and 
Objectives

Enclosure 2: Process leading to the preparation of  
Enclosure1

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) To agree the principle of consulting on the Future 
Vision and Objectives of NPMP21.

b) To seek members written feedback on the form 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk


and content of the Future Vision and Objectives 
consultation document to be provided to the NPMP 
Project Board for review.

c) That members agree the general direction of 
travel of the draft Future Vision and Objectives 
document

1.1 Introduction or Background

1.1.1 The requirement for the Authority to produce a Management Plan for the area is 
defined by the Environment Act (1995).  The plan should be the overarching strategic 
policy framework for the National Park from which all other policy should conform.  

1.1.2 The current National Park Management Plan (NPMP) was first published in 2010 and 
then reviewed in 2015.  Since such time the Welsh Government have published Valued 
and Resilient their position statement on the priorities for the National Parks of Wales.  
The Authority is required to review the Management Plan every five years and the 
current plan review will define a new 25 year vision and set management objectives for 
the period 2021-2026.  

1.2 Proposals

1.2.1 The document set out at enclosure 1 of this report: NPMP21 Vision and Objectives is the 
first stage in the development of the new NPMP21 and Enclosure 2 sets out the process 
we have gone through to arrive at this first draft which seeks to set out in an easy to 
read and accessible manner the Authority’s ambition for the Park.  We wish to publish 
the Vision and Objectives document for stakeholder feedback in order to raise awareness 
and interest in the NPMP21 and begin early discussion around its future scope.  

1.2.2 The document begins by highlighting key policy issues which are then translated into a 
high level vision, objectives and high level policy framework.  As part of this expression 
we have commissioned an artist to create a stylised portrait of both the current state of 
the park and a future landscape recovered for nature.  This work is still in train and we 
hope it will be guided in its development by the NPMP21 Project Board to provide a 
powerful tool in helping our stakeholders understand the scale of our ambition.

Page 12



1.2.3 As a result of recent discussions with Welsh Government and NRW it been made clear 
that we need to engage our stakeholders in early policy development in order to enable 
collaborative effort in the drafting of the final plan.  For this reason, Officers believe it 
necessary to bring this draft document to Authority to provide all Members with the 
opportunity to review and feedback prior the finalisation of the document for 
consultation.

1.3 Implications

1.3.1 It is hoped that this report will give Members an opportunity to meaningfully input into 
the development of this document to ensure it properly reflects Members wishes and 
aspirations for the Park.  We are seeking detailed written feedback from Members, to 
be provided to the NPMP Project Board for review.  These comments will be used to 
refine the draft before Members today to ensure that the final version for consultation 
accurately and clearly expresses the future vision for the National Park.

1.3.2 We are aiming to consult on this document alongside a revised Preferred Strategy for 
the Local Development Plan in February of next year.

1.4 Risk

1.4.4 The need for this consultation phase has been highlighted as a result of discussions with 
Welsh Government and NRW.  Both agencies have cautioned potential for consultation 
deficit in our extant project plan and urged the need for meaningful collaboration with 
stakeholders at the earliest stages of development.  The aim of this consultation phase is 
to limit risk of challenge to future drafts of the plan by ensuring all stakeholders are 
involved in the journey of plan development.  

1.5 Conclusion

1.5.1 The document before members today is a first draft of a critical document in engaging 
stakeholders in the development of the next Management Plan.  We are seeking Member 
views on content and ambition with the aim of inviting detailed written feedback to the 
Project Board for review.  The final consultation draft will be provided to members in 
February, with the aim of combining this with the  consultation on the LDP revised 
Preferred Strategy.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) To agree the principle of consulting on the Future Vision and Objectives of 
NPMP21.

Page 13



b) To seek members written feedback on the form and content of the Future 
Vision and Objectives consultation document to be provided to the NPMP 
Project Board for review.

c) That members agree the general direction of travel of the draft Future 
Vision and Objectives document

Page 14



NPMP 21

Issues, 

Vision and 

Objectives

January 2021

#BeTheChangeBreconBeacons

#ByddYNewidBannauBrycheiniog

Page 15



This document has been produced using Venngage Infographic software.  Unless otherwise stated images used are 

reproduced under this licence.  Imaging front cover, and all main picture pages is reproduced with the kind agreement of 

Peter Fry ARPS.

 

Original artwork by Rob Taylor of Taylor Made Illustration.

 

All rights reserved Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 2021Page 16



This document represents the first step in the development of 

the next National Park Management Plan.

 

It sets out the Authority's future ambition for the National Park 

based on the evidence and pressures we have identified through 

our work.

 

It is our perspective - a perspective that is grounded in the need 

to implement National Park purposes and duty.   This vision has 

been developed in response to the significant shift in policy 

drivers, brought about by the Coronavirus pandemic and 

associated socio-economic shocks.   

 

In writing this we acknowledge that our perspective is just one of 

many in relation to the future of the Park. The Park is many 

different things to many different people - from source of 

income, to playground, to home.  We as an Authority have to 

manage these multiple, often competing asks of the Park in the 

interest of the Nation.  Its a task that we know we don't always 

get quite right and certainly one that we cannot do alone.

 

This document is therefore the start of a conversation which 

seeks to mediate the many faces of the National Park.  It is an 

invitation to all with an interest in the future management of the 

plan to engage with the issues and help us write the next 

Management Plan for the Park.  

 

This is our story, told with the hope of inspiring yours.

 

 

 

 

Page 17



INTRODUCTION

In this section we set out what the National Park 

Management Plan is and why it is important to all who care 

about the future of the National Park.

WHERE WE ARE NOW

This section looks at the current state of the National Park It 

also considers the wider economic, social and political drivers 

for change.

FUTURE VISION

This section paints a portrait of how the Park could look in 25 

years time if the issues identified are addressed. 

How this report is structured

FUTURE POLICY 

FRAMEWORK

This section sets out draft policy objectives for NPMP21 and 

proposes a policy framework to aid implementation 

YOUR INVOLVMENET

This section defines how you can get involved both in 

responding to this consultation and in wider development of the 

Management Plan

Page 18

https://venngage.com/


INTRODUCTION

The Brecon Beacons National Park is one of a family of 

fifteen other National Parks in the UK. Collectively we 

ensure that the landscapes in our care are managed 

sustainably for the quiet enjoyment of all.

 

National Parks are in a true and full sense national. This 

does not mean that local interests are to be disregarded; 

the well-being of those who live and work within the 

National Park is always a first consideration.  The 

architect of their creation, John Dower, stated their 

value in 1945

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
The National Park Authority is the body which is 

charged by law to look after the rich and special 

landscapes of the National Park. In doing so we are 

given two special purposes:-

 
Few national purposes are more vital or more 

rich in promise of health and happiness than 

the provision of large, open and beautiful tracts 

of country in which holidays can be freely and 

inexpensively enjoyed. 

 

National Parks are not for any privileged or 

otherwise restricted section of the population, 

but for all who care to refresh their minds and 

spirits and to exercise their bodies in a 

peaceful setting of natural beauty

This founding ethos remains central to the work of the 

Authority and frames the development of policy for the 

future management of the Park.

 

The Brecon Beacons received formal designation as a 

National Park in 1957.  Our boundary covers some 520 

square miles of beautiful countryside. Our border 

extends from the rural heart--land of Mid Wales in the 

north to the post-industrial ex-mining communities of 

the South Wales Valleys.  From east to west we span 

the Marchs to the fringes of Llandeilo.  We are currently 

home to about 33,000 people.

To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, 

wildlife and cultural heritage of the National 

Park; and

 

To promote opportunities for the public 

understanding and enjoyment of the special 

qualities of the National Park 

The law also states that in carrying out our purposes we 

must also:-

 

Seek to foster the economic and social well-

being of local communities, within the National 

Park.

The Authority is made up of 105 employees. Decisions 

are made by the committee of the Authority which is 

comprised of 18 members, 12 of whom are local 

Authority Councillors, and 6 of whom are appointed by 

the Welsh Government.

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK

Page 19



The same legislation that sets out our purposes and duty 

also requires the National Park Authority to produce a 

Management Plan for the area (NPMP).  It states:-

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
The Authority's current NPMP Managing Change Together 

was adopted in 2010.  It underwent full review in 2015, 

which culminated in the publication of the first review in 

2015 Putting Well-being at the Heart of Managing our 

National Park.  This currently forms the statutory 

Management Plan for the area. 

Every National Park authority shall, …prepare and 

publish a plan, to be known as National Park 

Management Plan, which formulates its policy for the 

management of the relevant Park and for the carrying 

out of its functions in relation to that park

Since the review of Managing Change Together the Welsh 

Government has published its policy priorities for the 

National Parks in Wales. Valued and Resilient defines a 

series of 10 cross-cutting objectives for the National Park to 

deliver.  

 

In order to ensure conformity with these priorities the 

Authority has determined the need for the development of a 

replacement NPMP to cover the period 2021-2026.  It is 

referred to as NPMP21.

 

This is produced in accordance with our general powers and 

with the agreement of the Welsh Government and Natural 

Resources Wales.

 

Our Management Plan sets our strategic objective and policy 

for the general principles of managing the Park.  

Implementation of this vision is then expressed  within a 

series of more detailed topic based plans. We refer to this as 

the 'plan of plans' approach to the Management Plan (see 

diagram below).

IMPLEMENTING OUR PURPOSES AND DUTY

Page 20

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/2010-2015-national-park-management-plan/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/BBNP-Management-Plan-PROOF-03-03-16-English.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf


WHERE WE ARE NOW 

 

The landscape of the National Park has been designated since 

1957.  Our designation has ensured that the area is offered 

protection in terms of how it is developed, it has also ensured 

that visitors are signposted to the Park as an area able to meet 

needs for outdoor recreation.   In this section we think about 

what the results of 63 years of the Brecon Beacons National Park 

has been, and the extent to which the wildlife, natural beauty and 

cultural heritage have been conserved and enhanced within our 

boundaries whilst enabling visitor access.

 

Page 21



 

 

 

The image above portrays a typical landscape of the National Park as we see it today.  

 

Rugged bare uplands make way to a pastoral landscape, a patchwork of green grass of fields for grazing livestock 

interspersed with trim and traditional hedgerows. 

 

The ploughed fields expose the red soil so characteristic of the area.

 

The few farm houses that populate the image testament to this as a living and working landscape. 

 

The river at the valley floor meandering its way through the scene.  

 

A rural idyll that typifies the complexity of the interaction between man and nature that combines to form a vision of our 

natural beauty.  

 

But this is not a benign landscape.  

 

The following pages discuss just some of the issues that underlie the state of the Park as it is today.

Page 22



In 2016 Natural Resources Wales published their State of 

Natural Resources Report.  This found that none of the 

ecosystems in Wales had all the necessary attributes of 

resilience.  In 2018, the WWF published their Living 

Planet Report which found that wildlife population sizes 

have fallen globally by 60% since 1970.  In 2019 the State 

of Nature Report highlighted the loss of 73 species from 

Wales with a further 666 at risk of extinction.

 

It is clear from the above snapshot that nature is in crisis, 

over the past few years we have learnt some of the 

extent of the species loss on a global and national scale.  

In 2020 with the publication of the State of the Park 

Report we learned some extent of how this crisis was 

playing out in the Park.  

 

Take for example our Breeding and Nesting Birds data. 

Birds are powerful indicators of environmental health. 

Many birds sit at or near the top of terrestrial and marine 

food chains and understanding the drivers and impacts on 

their populations gives us an insight into the status of 

other wildlife. A total of 8 'red list' species were shown 

to be declining by more than 50%  they include species 

such as Swift, Greenfinch, Grey Wagtail, Yellowhammer, 

Curlew, Wheatear and Rook.  Some of our most familiar 

birds such as the chaffinch and blue tit were shown to be 

in decline between 25 and 50%. These declines seen 

across multiple species, occupiers of multiple habitats 

speaks of wide-ranging problems within ecosystems.  This 

could have devastating consequences for humanity. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

This isn't a story that is unique to the landscapes and 

habitats of the National Park but it is an uncomfortable 

truth given our first purpose requires the Authority to 

conserve and enhance wildlife in all our activity.  This 

contradiction was recently highlighted by the RSPB  in 

their 2020 A Lost Decade for Nature .  This not only 

highlighted the UK had failed to reach any of the Aichi  

targets set by the UN in 2010 to halt the devastating loss 

of biodiversity, but more significantly that National Parks 

and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty appear less 

able than other areas to protect the most significant 

habitats in their care.  A study in England found that the 

condition of Sites of Scientific Interest is worse inside 

National Parks than outside.  Although comparative 

inside and outside the park boundary has not been 

completed, we recognise that the condition of SACs and 

SSSIs within the Park  is below where we would want it 

to be in terms of a healthy ecosystem, and certainly a 

very far way from being enhanced.

 

The reasons for this picture are multiple but both 

SONAR (2019) & the  WWF's Wales's Nature Crisis 

(2020) highlight the following as drivers of biodiversity 

loss within the UK:-

 

Agricultural Management

Climate change

Hydrological change

Urbanisation

Invasive non native species

Pollution

Woodland Management

>50%

8 RED LIST BIRD SPECIES declined by 

more than 50% in the Brecon Beacons 

between 1995 and 2018

of SACs are in 

unfavourable condition

56%

of SSSIs are in unfavourable 

management35%

<6%

16.5% of the Park is woodland or 

commercial forest plantations. Of this, just 

under 6% of the Park  is semi-natural 

broadleaved woodland or mixed woodland.

THE STATE OF NATURE IN THE PARK

STATE OF NATURE IN THE NATIONAL PARK

Page 23

https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/the-state-of-natural-resources-report-assessment-of-the-sustainable-management-of-natural-resources/?lang=en
https://www.worldwildlife.org/pages/living-planet-report-2018
https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/images/campaigning-and-positions/let-nature-sing/birdsong-takeover/pdf/sonr/rspb_state-of-nature_summary_wales.pdf
https://ww2.rspb.org.uk/Images/A%20LOST%20DECADE%20FOR%20NATURE_tcm9-481563.pdf
https://www.wwf.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/WWF%20CYMRU_Report_Wales%20Nature%20Crisis_2020_0.pdf


The architects of National Park designation, saw National 

Park's as providing opportunities for free access to the 

countryside to all members of society, for what they 

termed, open air recreation.  This was a key element of 

social reform introduced after the horror of world war 

two and was seen as critical, alongside the creation of the 

welfare state, the NHS and paid holidays.

 

How people access and utilise the countryside has been 

totally transformed from this post war vision.  Not only 

has the population of the UK grown significantly - there 

approximately 13million more people in the UK than in 

1949 - but car ownership has grown exponentially.  In 

1950 there were 4 million cars on the road, as of today 

that figure has grown to 38.4 million.  It is this combined 

growth in people and private car use that has had the 

biggest impact on the National Park and our ability to 

manage visitor pressures.  Tourism, both staying and day 

visitors is one of the most significant elements of the local 

economy.  Indeed visitor spend has on the whole 

increased by as much as 45% since 2007.  Visitors come 

to the National Park for a whole host of reasons, but at 

the core people come to the National Park because it 

evokes feelings of wellbeing intangible, but valuable to a 

sense of emotional health and happiness. The problem is 

not the people but their mode of access.

 

This year has not been a typical year.  For the first time in 

a decade large areas of the National Park were closed 

and public access made illegal.  Visit later became the 

tagline of the Park in the 2020 lockdown.

 

 

 During lockdown, the daily local work became a source 

of singular comfort for many.  The renewed opportunity 

to spend recreational time in outdoor arenas became 

synonymous with healing, akin to the vision of National 

Parks set out by Dower and Houbhouse back in the 

1940s.  As if to prove the point, when lockdowns were 

lifted, we saw visitors return at levels never seen before

 

Many visitors congregate on particular, iconic locations, 

notably the central beacons at Storey Arms and 

Waterfall Country at Pontneddfechan.  Often this means 

we see visitors accessing at numbers beyond carrying 

capacity of the area. This leads to a range of impacts 

which are not only detrimental to the quality of the 

visitor experience but have untold adverse impacts on 

the host communities who feel swamped by the 

enormity of the visitor presence.

 

Issues associated with visitor pressure beyond carrying 

capacity:-

Transportation emissions

Road congestion and parking issues

Increase in holiday homes and second homes

Inappropriate recreation activity

Noise pollution

Upland erosion

Wildlife disturbance

Adverse change within special qualities

Impact on communities, cultural heritage and 

welsh language

 

 

22%

INCREASE in the percentage of Rights 

of Way within the Park being classed as 

'Easy to Use' since 2011

more visitor cars arrived at peak 

times in the Waterfall area post 

650

31%

INCREASE in the percentage of Rights of 

Way within the Park being classed as 'Open' 

since 2011.

OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENJOYING THE PARK

more visitor cars are estimated 

to park at the storey arms area at 

342

lockdown 2020 than there were car parking 

spaces to accommodate them (62.5% above 

capacity)

peak times than there are car parking spaces to 

accommodate (<200% above capacity)

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/tsgb-2011-vehicles
https://www.racfoundation.org/motoring-faqs/mobility#:~:text=A1)%20At%20the%20end%20of,a%20fall%20in%20new%20registrations.


Our communities are at the heart of the National Park.  

But, rural living is not without difficulty.  Of the many 

issues currently facing communities in the Park we could 

name a plethora of challenges, eg:- climate change; 

increased flood risk; fuel poverty; access to services; 

changes to agricultural subsidy regimes (see next); rural 

poverty; cost of housing; our ageing population; equality 

and inclusion; inter-generational equity; out-migration of 

young people and lack of public transport.  The impact of 

many of these issues has been exacerbated by the 

COVID 19 pandemic.

 

Of the many issues that are impacting our communities, 

at the centre is our skewed demographic balance.  Over 

the past few decades we have seen a loss of young 

people from the area, why this happens is a complex 

story - partly it is about the pull of the bright lights of the 

big city, but it is also about a lack of quality employment 

opportunities in the Park and the high price of housing.  

The loss of young people means that our resident 

population is getting older, and this is somewhat 

exacerbated by the popularity of the area for incoming 

retirees.  Those people who are no longer tethered by 

the daily commute wish to spend their retirement in the 

countryside that is synonymous with leisure time in their 

associations.  The result is higher house prices, loss of 

services and facilities such as schools from within 

communities.  This places significant pressure on our 

villages to absorb more growth to provide affordable 

housing for younger people whilst existing housing stock 

can stand empty as holiday and second homes - leading 

to the creation of 'dormitory villages'.

 

We are also witnessing an unprecedented decline in our 

town centres, vacancy rates have been above what 

would be deemed tolerable for some time - a situation 

which will only worsen as a result of the cCOVID-19's 

impact on high-street retail.

Unsurprisingly our economic make up owes much to the 

framework of our designation as a National Park.  As an 

area we are less reliant on traditional economic sectors 

(such as manufacturing and industry) and more on the 

service economy built up around the tourist trade.  In 

turn our appeal as a tourist destination is heavily reliant 

on a landscape that is mostly agricultural, and whose 

survival is dependent on the action of the farmers who 

make their living from the land.  

 

Economic prosperity as expressed through key labour 

market indicators  can be seen to shift from more to less 

prosperous as you travel from the north to south of the 

Authority area.  The rural agricultural areas of the 

National Park demonstrate on average greater levels of 

income to the more urban settlements of the (now 

abandoned) coal fields of the South Wales Valleys on 

our southern periphery.  This spatial distinction is also 

borne out in levels of employment, levels of education 

and multiple measures of deprivation, which all fall from 

North to South.

 

Global economies have been decimated by the impacts 

of coronavirus and shifts in behaviour this has 

engendered .  The make-up of the National Park 

economy is such that we are not impervious to the 

shocks being felt acutely within sectors such as retail and 

tourism.   In combination with the economic uncertainty 

embedded within the coronavirus crisis, additional 

impacts are being predicted around Brexit, and the 

make-up of any future trade agreement with the EU. 

(unknown at time of writing). This is predicted to impact 

on the Agricultural sector most acutely, but will have 

impact on all activity which is reliant on the import or 

export of goods with Europe, including potentially 

tourism.

 

 

35.8% 

Proportion of our total resident 

population over 65 by 2032.  

LIVING AND WORKING IN THE PARK

Mortgage

Multipliers

8.6

1

Average

house

prices

Average

income

0

5

10

Affordable housing need

2007-2022

1,248

140

1,108

Total

number of

affordable

homes

needed

Total

number of

affordable

homes built

shortfall

0 1,000

48.8%

Proportion of our total resident 

population between 16-64 by 2032.

Page 25



The Management Plan does not exist in a vacuum. It is 

formed within and in response to the social and political 

context of its location at time of writing.  For this plan, that 

time is 2020 and the context is a world hopefully emerging 

from the coronacrisis.

 

2020 was the year that school children went on strike to 

highlight the urgency of the climate crisis and the lack of 

urgency toward it shown by those in power. 

 

2020 was set as the deadline for saving nature; the year the 

United Nations Global Biodiversity Outlook Report 

demonstrated that not a single Aichi Biodiversity Target had 

been met.  Humanity, they said, was at a cross road for its 

very survival.

 

2020 was the year people of all colours, genders and ages 

came together in support of the Black Lives Matter 

movement to  highlight inequality, historic and current 

injustices and to seek a more equal future.

 

And finally, 2020 was the year the UK left the European 

Union.  This is crucial for the National Park as agricultural 

subsidy regimes will now shift from the European Common 

Agricultural Policy to a new system set by Welsh 

Government.  We know that CAP was an outdated system 

which often prevented farmers utilising the nature friendly 

systems they wished to employ.  We also know that the 

new Welsh Government led Sustainable Farming Scheme 

will refocus payment schedules to provide payment for 

public goods, this includes using marginal land for the 

creation of natural regeneration, tree planting, wetland 

creation and more sustainable farming techniques in 

general.  This is, for many, a step change in practice and we 

appreciate the challenge it brings to some farms.  This 

change in farm payment schedule forms one of the biggest 

drivers for landscape change within the National Park area.  

It is also one of our biggest opportunities to recover nature, 

to address climate change impacts and produce quality 

sustainable food for our communities.

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
  

DRIVERS AND PRESSURES FOR CHANGE

Page 26

https://ukscn.org/
https://www.cbd.int/gbo5
https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/nov/13/how-black-lives-matter-has-inspired-a-generation-of-new-uk-activists
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-07/brexit-consultation-document.pdf


FUTURE VISION

 

To act in response to the identified issues will result in 

a very different looking landscape.  The following page 

provides a sketch of what this might look like.  We 

present our ambition in order to start the  dialogue 

about the future of the National Park. 

 

Page 27



TO BE 
REPLA
CED :-)

 

 

 

This image takes us back to the same typical scene in the National Park.

This time however, we have moved the clock on 25 years to paint a portrait of a possible landscape of the 

future. This landscape is one where nature and farming work together to create a balanced landscape where 

nature flourishes.

 

A sustainable future for the National Park is one that has embraced nature based solutions to climate change, green 

growth, and transitioning of communities to low carbon living that is accessible to all.  This shift in position is one that 

we hope will inspire others to action - that our visitors will benefit and learn from contact with this nature rich world.  

This is the driving force in the vision that we have drawn out and one that we are inviting you to share with us as we 

move towards the development of NPMP21.

 

We believe that this is an imperative that must be acted upon now, and where possible collaboratively with all those 

who have a stake in the continued viability of this area

 

We believe that this is necessary in response to the existential threat of climate change and biodiversity loss which 

taken in combination will devastate our communities, and our ability to grow and produce our own food.  The real 

and very present danger of flooding, pollution, and pollinator loss are already having a demonstrable impact  on 

human health, the economy and food production.  There is no capacity for further degradation of the natural world,  

and every need to enhance the environment.  We need to change the way we live, the way we manage the 

land and the way we define prosperity in the National Park or face devastating consequence.

Page 28



OBJECTIVES AND POLICY FRAMEWORK

 

The vision prompts us to begin to define future 

policy objectives for NPMP21.  These objectives set 

out what we as an Authority think is necessary for 

the future Management of the Park.  This is our 

perspective based on our understanding of our 

purposes and duty in a 21st century context, alive to 

the issues of the climate and nature crisis.

 

The section ends with detailed questions, to open up 

the conversation about the future management of 

the Park 

Page 29



Page 30



Current relevant Partnerships

the National Park is working with

Local Nature Partnership

Meithrin Mynydd

Black Mountains Land Use Partnership

Brecon Beacons Mega Catchment

Waterfalls Partnership

 

To make the Park an exemplar of nature based solutions for climate change working 

collaboratively with land managers 

We know that in order to address climate change and reverse biodiversity decline will take a step change in 

land management practice.  We want to work with our landowners to help them realise the opportunities 

such a shift in practice engenders.  Such activity will look to increase nature recovery within 67,000Ha of 

the Park.  Such action should include woodland planting, restoration of peatland, increase the functionality 

of other key habitats, and increase connectivity between habitats.  We will lead by example through the 

management of our own land. 

 

To improve water quality within the Park and maintain those improvements

We want to work in partnership to enable each River Water Body and Catchment within the National Park 

to be assessed as good overall by Natural Resources Wales, to maintain the Good overall classification of 

the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal and to significantly improve the poor overall classification of Llangors 

Lake to Good.

 

To work with our agricultural community to ensure that the Sustainable Farming Scheme 

delivers the best outcomes for the natural environment of the National Park.

The new Sustainable Farming Scheme which will replace CAP will create a different way of farming.  

Farmers will be paid to provide public goods, such as nature recovery and carbon sequestration.  This is a 

huge opportunity but one we know will not be without challenge for some farmers.  We also know that 

much of the changes in farming techniques will also have business benefits for local farms.  We know that 

the Authority has a role to help farmers transition and benefit from the new regime and we want to use our 

expertise to help farmers make the most from the scheme whilst maximising benefits for nature and our 

climate.

 

To ensure all development and land use change delivers a net benefit for biodiversity and 

provides broader environmental net-gain, demonstrating carbon neutrality in construction 

and how resulting future direct and indirect emissions caused by the development will be 

minimised and offset

We have seen the impact development has had on the environment of our Park.  In order to mitigate for 

some of the worst environmental impacts we need to ensure that the ‘polluter pays’.  As such any future 

development within the National Park must be exemplar in terms of the benefits it brings.  We will use our 

future LDP to set an ambitious policy framework aimed at these ends linked to the green growth strategy.

 

Landscape and 

nature 

recovery: Future 

policy objectives.

Areas where  partnership development is 

necessary

Future farming across the Park

River Usk nutrient and wider catchment 

management

External funding including natural capital 

investment and finance.

Llangors lake sub-catchment

Central Beacons

 

Page 31



Current relevant Partnerships

the National Park is working with

Local Nature Partnership

A470 Working Group

Beacons Water Group

Waterfalls Partnership

Historic Environment Partnership

 

To have made public and sustainable travel a viable means of accessing the Park for 

our visitors

We know that the reason most people access the National Park by car is because there is no other 

option.  It is vital that through the NPMP21 we make sustainable travel options feasible for visitors.  

This means working collaboratively with our partners to increase access by non-car methods.  Here 

we are thinking park and ride buses, e-bikes with the potential for some EV car options.

 

To promote the Park as A Natural Health Service

The nation has been decimated by the coronavirus crisis, we know that the Park could be a 

significant part of addressing both the physical and mental health impacts of repeated lockdowns, 

and very altered living and working conditions.  We will lead on this venture with our own targeted 

programmes working with communities most in need and closely monitor outcomes.  We will 

extend this action to work with key partners to increase access of the Park for therapeutic purposes 

for all,  for future well-being.

 

To develop a programme of interpretation, education and communication linked to 

nature recovery projects in the National Park.

We know that action on climate change is not only needed at government and corporation level but 

also in the action of individuals in their own homes.  We also know that increasing opportunities for 

access to Nature increases pro-environmental behaviour.  People become more likely to undertake 

actions in their own home to limit their personal action on the climate.  This increases with 

understanding of nature depletion and recovery.  One of the simplest thing we can do is ensure that 

all our work for nature recovery is explained to our communities and our visitors. 

 

Develop an integrated plan for the future management of the Historic Environment 

working with objectives around nature recovery

The heritage of the National Park is writ large in our landscape.  We know our future vision will 

require landscape change.  We need to ensure that such future action is done in partnership with 

the heritage community to ensure that the historic environment of the National Park is not 

negatively impacted.  We therefore aim to work with our key partners to develop an integrated plan 

to conserve and enhance our natural and historic environment in a holistic manner.

 

Inspiring People 

and Places: 

Future policy 

objectives.

Areas where  partnership 

development is necessary

Health and Wellbeing

Diversity and inclusion 

Active Travel 

 

Page 32



Current relevant Partnerships

the National Park is working with

Local Nature Partnership

Waterfalls Partnership

Sustainable Development Fund

To develop a ‘green growth’ strategy for the National Park with Payments for 

Ecosystem Services at its heart.

From carbon credits to nutrient trading there is a growing move for nature recovery to be a viable 

investment opportunity.  We want to work with our partners (landowners and experts) to 

develop a portfolio of future nature based investment opportunities across the Park using our 

network of land managers to implement.  This could include farm diversification for nature based 

enterprise including eco-tourism, diversity of food production and the development of an EV 

highspeed charging network.

 

To enable and support community development of Place Plans with the aim of 

developing 20 minute communities

20 minute communities are those where residents are able to meet their basic needs within 20 

minutes.  This is an ambitious target for many of our rural communities but one we believe is 

essential if we are to ensure their survival into the 21st century.  Our efforts here will focus on the 

development of community based hubs to provide services and facilities; community growing 

space for health and wellbeing;  community led housing accessible to local people for community 

sustainability; opportunities for home working including community led workshops & office space 

and schemes to encourage the retrofitting of existing housing stock for energy efficacy and 

domestic renewable energy schemes

 

 

Community and 

rural enterprise: 

Future policy 

objectives.

Areas where  partnership 

development is necessary

Future Farming 

Local businesses

Community Housing 

Community Energy

External funding including natural capital 

investment and finance.

Page 33



Questions

 

This document has taken you on the journey from key evidence, 

to future vision and finally our future policy objectives.  This is 

the journey that the Authority has been on in agreeing this 

document.

 

Now we would like to give you the opportunity to think about 

what your future vision might be given your reading of the 

evidence - what is your way forward? The following questions 

attempt to spark thinking around how you would frame 

NPMP21 if it was you writing and not us.   You don't need to 

answer every question,  you don't even need to answer one of 

them, these are just prompts.  Section 5 of this document gives 

you all the details of how you can send us your answers.

 

1.  To what extent does our future vision for the Park align 

with your own vision? What would you change? What 

would you keep?

2. Our emphasis has been on nature recovery and climate 

change mitigation and adaptation - are these issues the 

most important priorities in the Park to address? If not, 

what would be the priority focus of NPMP21 if you were 

writing it?

3. We have sketched out a number of policy objectives for 

NPMP21 - will these things address all the issues facing the 

Park? What have we missed? What objectives do you think 

are right? What objectives do you disagree with?

4. We have attempted to capture current and future 

partnerships which we will be working with to implement 

this Plan - have we missed anyone ? Are there future areas 

for collaborative working we've missed?

5. Overleaf, we have set out our Special Qualities as defined 

by the 2010 Management Plan. Are these still the Special 

Qualities of the Brecon Beacons - what would you change? 

Do these Special Qualities still apply to our future vision?

 

 

Page 34



OUR SPECIAL QUALITIES

Peace and tranquillity

A National Park offering peace and tranquillity with opportunities for quiet 

enjoyment, inspiration, relaxation and spiritual renewal.

 

Vitality and healthfulness

A feeling of vitality and healthfulness that comes from enjoying the Park’s fresh air, 

clean water, rural setting, open land and locally produced foods.

 

Sense of place and cultural identity

A sense of place and cultural identity - “Welshness” - characterized by the 

indigenous Welsh language, religious and spiritual connections, unique 

customs and events, traditional foods and crafts, relatively unspoilt historic 

towns and villages, family farms and continued practices of traditional skills 

developed by local inhabitants to live and earn a living here, such as 

common land practices and grazing

 

Sense of discovery

A sense of discovery where people explore the Park’s hidden secrets and 

stories such as genealogical histories, prehistoric ritual sites, relic medieval 

rural settlements, early industrial sites, local myths and legends and 

geological treasures from time immemorial.

 

Sweeping grandeur and outstanding 

natural beauty

The Park’s sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty observed 

across a variety of harmoniously connected landscapes, including 

marvellous gorges and waterfalls, classic karst geology with caves and sink 

holes, contrasting glacial landforms such as cliffs and broad valleys carved 

from old red sandstone and prominent hilltops with extensive views in all 

directions.

 

 

Contrasting patterns, colours, and 

textures

A working, living “patchwork” of contrasting patterns, colours, and 

textures comprising well-maintained farmed landscapes, open uplands, 

lakes and meandering rivers punctuated by small-scale woodlands, country 

lanes, hedgerows and stone walls and scattered settlements.

 

Page 35

https://venngage.com/


Diversity of wildlife and richness of semi-

natural habitats

Extensive and widespread access to the Park’s diversity of wildlife and 

richness of semi-natural habitats, such as native woodlands, heathland 

and grassland, natural lakes and riparian habitats, ancient hedgerows, 

limestone pavement and blanket bogs including those of international 

and national importance.

 

 

Rugged, remote and challenging

In the context of the UK, geographically rugged, remote and challenging 

landscapes.

 

 

Enjoyable and accessible

 Enjoyable and accessible countryside with extensive, widespread and 

varied opportunities to pursue walking, cycling, fishing, water-based 

activities and other forms of sustainable recreation or relaxation.

 

 

Intimate sense of community

An intimate sense of community where small, pastoral towns and 

villages are comparatively safe, friendly, welcoming and retain a spirit of 

cooperation.

Page 36

https://venngage.com/


YOUR PARK

We know that the National Park is bigger than just the 

Authority.  As described multiple times in this 

document, the Authority's role is often that of co-

ordinator - bringing together all the people with an 

interest in a specific topic or a specific place to work 

collectively for best outcomes.  This is why we say that 

the Management Plan is not our Plan but the Plan of the 

Park as a geographic and structuring entity.  Your views 

are therefore central in how we develop this plan 

together.

 

There are a number of ways you can get involved in the 

future Management of the National Park these are set 

out below.

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

If you are an individual join our citizen panels

If you prefer talking to writing you can sign up to be 

part of one of our independent citizen panels.  A citizen 

panel is a grouping of individuals who have an interest 

in the future Management of the National Park.  The 

Panel's role will be to hear presentations from experts 

and then make decisions about how NPMP21 could 

address the issues identified.  The Panel will make 

recommendations straight to the Board of the 

Authority.  To sign up use the form on the NPMP21 

page of the website.

Write to us about the future vision

You can respond to this consultation in writing to set 

out how you see the future vision.  You can use the 

question prompts set out previously or highlight 

other areas that feel need our attention.  Every 

comment will be read and responded to often 

resulting in changes or amendments to our thinking 

and expression.  Given our current working 

arrangements it would be easiest for us if you email 

your responses. The email address to use is: 

 

NPMP21@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

 

Please use the subject line Be The Change

 

( If you can't email we still love a good old fashioned 

letter use our authority address)

 

#BeTheChangeBreconBeacons

If social media is more you thing you can tweet us your 

key thoughts using the above hashtag, you could use 

text, images or video.  You can also use it on Instagram 

Facebook or any of the platforms that you use in your 

everyday life.

 

If you are reading this because you are part of an 

organisation or group that works in the Park you 

could elect to join our Stakeholder Reference Panel.  

The Stakeholder Reference Panel acts as a working 

group to develop areas of NPMP21.  Again the Panel 

reports to the Board but also has a role in 

implementation.  You can tell us that you want to 

contribute to this panel, but if you do be prepared to 

commit to active work in the Park in implementing 

the Plan.

Become a volunteer

One of the biggest ways you can contribute to the 

future management of the Park is by volunteering to do 

practical work in the Park to improve outcomes for 

nature, our heritage, access and interpretation.  This is a 

way that you can really make a difference.  More details 

are available here.

Page 37

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/volunteering/volunteering-2/


Your NPMP21 Team

This document and the work of NPMP21 is the result of a dedicated team of people 

who have a real passion for the future survival of the National Park.   You can read 

more about them and how to contact them below.

 

Helen Roderick 

Helen is a partner in a farming business, and was born and bred 

in the Park. Helen has a passion for sustainable farming 

techniques and believes strongly that farmers are the future of 

the Park. Helen has a long history of community development in 

the Park and is currently leading on our stakeholder work. 

helen.roderick@beacons-nap.gov.uk

Naomi Davies

Local girl Naomi lives on her parents farm.  Her background is 

in rural practice and has a very good head for farm 

diversification and business development.  Naomi is one of the 

most efficient people you will ever meet and keeps us organised 

and on track.  Naomi leads on site specific development.

naomi.davies@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Chris O'Brien

Chris has lived in Brecon for over 15 years. A chartered town 

planner, Chris's love of the outdoors means he has specialised 

in environmental matters and is working towards a hill and 

moorland leader qualification. He also is a passionate believer in 

the National Park movement and believes the benefits of the 

National Park should be accessible for people of all walks of life 

to enjoy. 

christopher.obrien@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Helen Lucocq

Helen was born in Swansea she has had a long and affectionate 

history with the Brecon Beacons (one of her favourite 

childhood friends was the Park's once mascot Spikey the 

Hedgehog).  Helen is our resident National Park geek with a 

passion for research and learning.  A bit of a polymath her 

interests range from storytelling, to heritage, to economics 

although her day job is as a chartered town planner.  Helen's 

young son is petrified of climate change, she's promised she'll do 

her best to sort it out for him.

helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Page 38

http://helen.roderick@beacons-nap.gov.uk/
http://naomi.davies@beacons-npa.gov.uk/
http://christopher.obrien@beacons-npa.gov.uk/
http://helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk/


Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Three park response to Welsh Government consultation on 
regulations for establishing corporate joint committees and on 
the policy intent for strategic development plans.

Name of 
Committee

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Date 15 December 2020

Report Author Chris O’Brien

Job title Senior Planning Officer (Policy)

Contact Details christopher.obrien@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek agreement on a response to Welsh Government 
consultation on regulations for establishing corporate joint 
committees and on the policy intent for strategic 
development plans.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable.

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 – Recommended response to the regulations for 
establishing corporate joint committees.

Enclosure 2 - Recommended response to the policy intent 
for strategic development plans.

Public Interest Test Not applicable.

Recommendation(s) 1. To approve the responses detailed in Enclosures 1 & 
2 as the basis for agreeing a joint response to the 
consultations with Pembrokeshire Coast National 
Park Authority and Snowdonia National Park 
Authority.

1.1 Introduction or Background

1.1.1 The Welsh Government is currently undertaking concurrent consultations on:
 Regulations to establish corporate joint committees; and,
 Establishing the Town and Country Planning (Strategic Development Plan) 

(Wales) Regulations 2021

1.1.2 Each consultation closes on 4 January 2021.

Page 41

Agenda Item 8

https://gov.wales/regulations-establish-corporate-joint-committees
https://gov.wales/establishing-town-and-country-planning-strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021
https://gov.wales/establishing-town-and-country-planning-strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021


2

1.1.3 The strategic planning powers of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority will be 
handed to three corporate joint committees, via which we will need to fund the 
preparation of three strategic development plans.

1.1.4 The national park purposes would not apply to the corporate joint committees. 

1.1.5 At the initial meeting of each corporate joint committee, national park authorities would 
have equal voting rights over strategic planning with other members. However, 
corporate joint committees may subsequently amend membership and voting rights.

1.1.6 The policy intent for strategic development plans indicate they would closely follow the 
local development plans preparation processes. Local development plan ‘lites’ are 
proposed, however without concurrent draft regulations uncertainty remains on the 
relationship between such ‘lite’ plans, strategic development plans and local 
development plans. 

1.2 Proposals

1.2.1 Subject to agreement, a three-park consultation response is proposed which: -
a) seeks to safeguard the national park designation in Wales; and,
b) seeks to avoid replicating weaknesses in the existing local development plan 

process during strategic development plan preparation.
c) Reiterates the points which have been made previously in meetings with the 

Minister for Local Government & Housing and her officials.

1.2.2 Article 5 (1) of The National Park Authorities (Wales) Order 1995 identified that, from 
the 1st April 1996, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority would be the sole 
local planning authority for the Brecon Beacons National Park and that: -

 functions conferred by or under the planning Acts on a planning authority of any 
description shall, in relation to the Park, be functions of the National Park 
authority, and not of any other authority; and

 so much of the area of any other authority as is included in the Park shall be 
treated as excluded from any area for which that other authority is a planning 
authority of any description.

1.2.3 The Welsh Government consultation recognises neither the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority as sole local planning authority nor that its membership is already made 
up from Local Authority Members and Welsh Government Appointees; The Authority 
is effectively a joint committee in its own right.

1.3 Implications

Page 42

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1995/2803/article/5


3

1.3.1 Responding to the consultation will make the Welsh Government aware of our position 
on the proposals. As Members will be aware, Welsh Government have given 
commitments to work closely with the three national park authorities to address our 
concerns and the submission seeks to reinforce the need for collaboration on this issue.

1.4 Risk

1.4.1 The proposal is that strategic planning powers of National Park Authorities are handed 
to three corporate joint committees to which national park purposes would not apply. 
This introduces practical and financial risks to our ability to pursue the purposes.

1.4.2 There is minimal risk in responding to the consultation; not making a strong joint 
response is considered a greater risk.

1.5 Conclusion

1.5.1 By responding to the consultation as proposed, the National Park Authorities will be 
asserting to the Welsh Government that our status as sole local planning authorities 
within national parks must remain. 

RECOMMENDATION:

1. To approve the responses detailed in Enclosures 1 & 2 as the basis for agreeing 
a joint response to the consultations with Pembrokeshire Coast National Park 
Authority and Snowdonia National Park Authority.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Consultation response: Regulations to establish corporate joint committees

By 4 January 2021, return to LGPartnerships@gov.wales 

Response of the Three National Parks of Wales

Care of: 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.

Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon. LD3 7HP. 

C/O Tracy Nettleton – Head of Planning Services , Brecon Beacons National Park
Tracy.nettleton@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Page 45

https://gov.wales/regulations-establish-corporate-joint-committees
mailto:LGPartnerships@gov.wales


1

1. Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the draft regulations to establish corporate 
joint committees. As many are framed around principal councils, our comments do not easily 
fit the 24 set consultation questions. Please accept the following as our response.

2. National Parks are designated for their national significance as landscapes of exceptional scenic 
beauty of value to the Nation (CCW 2007 1.16).  1

3. Government Orders designating Snowdonia, Pembrokeshire Coast and finally the Brecon 
Beacons as National Parks were confirmed on 18.10.1951, 29.02.1952 and 17.04.1957 
respectively. 

4. The fundamental decision made on designation was that, within each of Wales’ National Parks, 
two purposes for which land might be used and developed stand supreme. All other uses, by 
no means excluded from National Parks, being so limited and controlled as to harmonise with 
these purposes.

5. The purposes are: 
 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 

National Park; and,
 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special 

qualities of the National Parks.

6. Party to a Statement of Compliance signed by the three Welsh National Park Authorities, 
Wales’ National Parks are recognised as Category V Protected Areas by the International 
Union Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and the World Database of Protected Areas. 
Accordingly, the IUCN expects the National Park Authorities’ management plans to give a 
high priority to the conservation of nature. 

7. Extant joint Welsh Government and Countryside Commission for Wales guidance2, 
recognises National Park Management Plans as being of national importance, prevailing over 
regional and local policy as it is delivered in the National Parks.

8. The significance of National Park Authorities (on which national and local appointees serve 
together the national and local interest) is recognised by Section 4A (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, brought into force on 1st April 1996 by Article 5 (1) of The National Park 
Authorities (Wales) Order 1995. 

1 CCW (2007) Guidance on the development of Management Plans for National Parks para 1.16
2 Paragraph 4.45, Page 26. https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-
Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf Accessed 13.11.2020

Page 46

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1995/2803/article/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1995/2803/article/5
https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf
https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf


2

9. From this it is clear that the National Park authority for the Park shall be the sole local 
planning authority for the area of the Park and, accordingly—

(a)functions conferred by or under the planning Acts on a planning 
authority of any description (including the functions of a mineral planning authority 
under those Acts and under the Planning and Compensation Act 1991) shall, in 
relation to the Park, be functions of the National Park authority, and not 
of any other authority; and

(b)so much of the area of any other authority as is included in the Park shall be treated 
as excluded from any area for which that other authority is a planning authority of 
any description.

10. We agree with this position and do not see the case for changing it. We have significant 
concerns that the proposed approach risks undermining the quality of National Parks in Wales.

11. We question whether Section 4A (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 has been 
significantly amended by either The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 or the Planning 
Wales Act 2015. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 makes it clear that 
references to a local planning authority are to be construed as references to a strategic 
planning panel (60 J (4) (a)).

12. We question how the proposed regulations conform with Section 4A (2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 ?

13. However, should the regulations be pursued when acting in a strategic planning capacity within 
National Parks, we consider that Corporate Joint Committees must be subject to the same 
National Park purposes as National Park Authorities. Furthermore, that when the additional 
general purpose to pursue sustainable management of natural resources is placed on National 
Park Authorities, this must also apply to Corporate Joint Committees. 

14. Where acting in other capacities, the Environment Act (1995) s 62 (2) duty must apply to 
Corporate Joint Committees. 

15. Detailed observations on the draft regulations are included in Appendix 1.

Page 47

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/part/6
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/part/3/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/part/3/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A


1

Appendix 1. 

Detailed observations on draft regulations. 

Part 1

Regulation 2 - Mid Wales Regulations only

“the Brecon Beacons member” (“aelod Eryri”) Correction: “Aelod Bannau Brycheiniog”

Part 2

Schedule 1 – Transfer of staff. This should equally apply to the transfer of National Park Authority 
staff.

Paragraph 6 – Include veto for “the National Park member” in relation to the to the exercise of 
strategic planning functions where they impact a National Park.

Part 3 

Regulation 8 (1) - “the National Park member” must be able to co-opt members likewise.

Part 4 

No comment.

Part 5 

No comment.

Page 48



Consultation response: Establishing the Town and Country Planning (Strategic Development Plan) 
(Wales) Regulations 2021

By 4 January 2021, return to  planconsultations-b@gov.wales

Response of Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast and Snowdonia National Park Authorities

Care of: 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.

Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon. LD3 7HP. 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.

Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon. LD3 7HP. 

C/O Tracy Nettleton – Head of Planning Services, Brecon Beacons National Park
Tracy.nettleton@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Page 49

https://gov.wales/establishing-town-and-country-planning-strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021
https://gov.wales/establishing-town-and-country-planning-strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021
mailto:planconsultations-b@gov.wales


1

1. Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Welsh Government’s policy intent for 
Strategic Development Plans. Please accept the following as our response.

2. National Parks are designated for their national significance as landscapes of exceptional scenic 
beauty of value to the Nation. 1

3. Government Orders designating Snowdonia, Pembrokeshire Coast and finally the Brecon 
Beacons as National Parks were confirmed on 18.10.1951, 29.02.1952 and 17.04.1957 
respectively. 

4. The fundamental decision made on designation was that, within each of Wales’ National Parks, 
two purposes for which land might be used and developed stand supreme. All other uses, by 
no means excluded from National Parks, being so limited and controlled as to harmonise with 
these purposes.

5. The purposes are: 
 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 

National Park; and,
 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special 

qualities of the National Parks.

6. Party to a Statement of Compliance signed by the three Welsh National Park Authorities, 
Wales’ National Parks are recognised as Category V Protected Areas by the International 
Union Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and the World Database of Protected Areas. 
Accordingly, the IUCN expects the National Park Authorities’ management plans to give a 
high priority to the conservation of nature. 

7. Extant joint Welsh Government and Countryside Commission for Wales guidance2, 
recognises National Park Management Plans as being of national importance, prevailing over 
regional and local policy as it is delivered in the National Parks.

8. The significance of National Park Authorities (on which national and local appointees serve 
together the national and local interest) is recognised by Section 4A (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, brought into force on 1st April 1996 by Article 5 (1) of The National Park 
Authorities (Wales) Order 1995. 

9. From this it is clear that the National Park authority for the Park shall be the sole local 
planning authority for the area of the Park and, accordingly—

1 CCW (2007) Guidance on the development of Management Plans for National Parks para 1.16
2 Paragraph 4.45, Page 26. https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-
Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf Accessed 13.11.2020

Page 50

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1995/2803/article/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1995/2803/article/5
https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf
https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf


2

(a)functions conferred by or under the planning Acts on a planning 
authority of any description (including the functions of a mineral planning authority 
under those Acts and under the Planning and Compensation Act 1991) shall, in 
relation to the Park, be functions of the National Park authority, and not 
of any other authority; and

(b)so much of the area of any other authority as is included in the Park shall be treated 
as excluded from any area for which that other authority is a planning authority of 
any description.

10. We agree with this position and do not see the case for changing it. We have significant 
concerns that the proposed approach for the preparation of Strategic Development Plan risks 
undermining the quality of National Parks in Wales.

11. We questions whether Section 4A (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 has been 
significantly amended by either The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 or the Planning 
Wales Act 2015. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 makes it clear that 
references to a local planning authority are to be construed as references to a strategic 
planning panel (60 J (4) (a)).

12. We question how the proposed approach respects Section 4A (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 ?

13. However, should the approach be pursued, where acting in a strategic planning capacity within 
National Parks, we consider that Corporate Joint Committees must be subject to the same 
National Park purposes as National Park Authorities. Furthermore, that when the additional 
general purpose to pursue sustainable management of natural resources is placed on National 
Park Authorities, this must also apply to Corporate Joint Committees. 

14. Where acting in other capacities, the Environment Act (1995) s 62 (2) duty must apply to 
Corporate Joint Committees. 

15. Detailed observations are included in Appendix 1.

Page 51

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/part/6
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/part/3/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/part/3/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/4A


1

Appendix 1. 

Detailed observations. 

A. Paragraph 2.1 of the consultation fails to recognise section 4A (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

B. Paragraph 2.2 of the consultation fails to recognise that ‘Strategic Planning Powers’ are 
actually those of Local Planning Authorities (See the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
60 J (4)). They are not drawn from the draft Corporate Joint Committee Regulations. 

C. Paragraph 2.3 of the consultation fails to recognise that in National Parks, Local Development 
Plans are already prepared across local authority boundaries. The membership of each 
National Park Authority comprises both national and local representation. 

D. If the approach is to be implemented, the Local Government Elections Bill would need to 
amend the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, which asserts the National Park authority 
for the Park as the sole local planning authority for the area of the Park.  

E. Regsarding paragraph 3.2 and throughout the proposal (see also paragraph 4.17), we do not 
consider it appropriate to set matters of central concern to the development plan process, 
such as the tests of soundness and definition of general conformity, via guidance. 
Furthermore, if the Welsh Government wishes to prescribe the form and content of an Annual 
Monitoring Report (although we see no case for doing so), then it should do so via regulations.

F. Regrading paragraph 3.5, the approach relies on future LDP regulations. This is of concern, 
and we ask that Local Planning Authorities are involved in their scoping. The LDP regulations 
referred to must be brought forward at the same time as SDP regulations to ensure coherence 
and consistency. 

G. Regrading paragraph 4.2, we question the effectiveness of elements of the current plan 
process. When compared to the experience of colleagues working in English National Parks, 
the Welsh process is more resource and time intensive. The plan preparation process 
duplicates the process required under the environmental assessment of plans and 
programmes regulations and such duplication should be omitted through careful crafting of 
regulation. 

H. Regrading paragraph 4.2, the requirements of the welsh language measure and socio-
economic duty, and forthcoming health impact assessment regulations, can and should be 
built into strategic environmental assessment.

I. To avoid duplication, links must be built with engagement undertaken to inform National Park 
Management Plans, Local Well-being Plans and Area Statements.

J. Like the NDF, a live timetable should be kept. The rigidity of the Delivery Agreement can act 
to curtail effective organic engagement and process opportunities for involvement. 

Page 52



2

K. Regrading paragraph 4.9, if the aim is to integrate with SA process – and we strongly agree it 
should be - this needs to be reflected in the detail throughout 

L. Regrading paragraph 4.10, if a two-stage process is proposed, please enable the opportunity 
for stage 1 to be open and broad.  at 4.11 an additional consultation stage is introduced on 
the range of strategies and options. This should be stage 1 – the preferred strategy.

M. Regrading paragraph 4.12, we question the need to regulate the form and content of the 
preferred strategy?  Each SDP should be able to develop a Preferred Strategy relevant to their 
area in terms of content and detail.

N. Regarding the bullet points under 4.12, the CJC should have regard to representations made 
on the preferred strategy only and the extent to which each representation has been 
addressed should not need to be asserted by the plan maker. As a formal opportunity exists 
for representations at the deposit stage, the representor may themselves determine whether 
their representations have been addressed. It is not for the plan maker to assert this. 

O. Regarding paragraph 4.13 the text requires clarification, will the plan contain a spatial strategy 
for all land uses i.e. including for agriculture, forestry and nature recovery and recreation?

P. Following deposit, the CJC should respond to each and every representation. It should also 
form an opinion on which soundness test the representation relates whether, if the 
alternative view proposed is held, it would require a significant change to the plan.

Q. Paragraph 4.14 does not appear consistent with the last bullet point under 4.13.

R. Regarding paragraph 4.16 and throughout the process, please be very clear on the necessity 
to make available all documents bilingually and in an accessible format. Although not 
prepared by the plan maker, some are required to be published by it (e.g. representations via 
the consultation report but also all evidence including the SA and HRA reports forming the 
examination library).

S. Regarding paragraph 4.18, what if the CJC it doesn’t adopt the plan within 8 weeks, may it 
also adopt the plan after 8 weeks?

T. Regarding paragraph 4.19, please acknowledge the importance of and opportunity for 
integration with the post adoption SA statement and monitoring reports.

U. Regarding paragraph 4.22, implementation monitoring, this should be shared by the 
constituent LPA. This could be integrated with the Statutory SA monitoring requirement which 
may make recommendations on the necessity of plan review. 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 NPMP21 Issues Report Consultation
	Encl. 1 NPMP21 vision and objectives
	Enclosure 2 NPMP

	8 Three Park Response to Welsh Government Consultation
	Enclosure 1: Response to Corporate Joint Committees
	Enclosure 2 : Response to Strategic Development Plan

	12 Workforce Plan
	Transitional Arrangements Organogram
	Enclosure 2 – Questions and Answers


